

Minutes of the meeting of the Scrutiny Management Board held in Herefordshire Council Offices, Plough Lane, Hereford, HR4 0LE on Tuesday 16 January 2024 at 2.00 pm

Committee members present in person and voting:

Councillors: Jenny Bartlett (Vice-Chairperson), Ellie Chowns, Simeon Cole, Frank Cornthwaite, Pauline Crockett, Toni Fagan,

Liz Harvey (Chairperson) and Louis Stark

Committee members participating via remote attendance:

Councillor Richard Thomas

[Note: Committee members participating via remote attendance, i.e. through

video conferencing facilities, may not vote on any decisions taken.]

Others in attendance:

B Baugh (Democratic Services Officer), J Coleman (Democratic Services Manager), Councillor Barry Durkin (Cabinet Member Roads and Regulatory Services), Councillor Carol Gandy (Cabinet Member Adults, Health and Wellbeing), R Hart (Head of Strategic Finance), J Higgins (Governance Support Assistant), Councillor Jonathan Lester (Leader of the Council), A Lovegrove (Director of Resources and Assurance), A Pitt (Director of Strategy and Performance), Councillor Ivan Powell (Cabinet Member Children and Young People), A Rees-Glinos (Governance Support Assistant), Councillor Pete Stoddart (Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services), Councillor Elissa Swinglehurst (Cabinet Member Environment), P Walker (Chief Executive) and D Webb (Statutory Scrutiny Officer)

[Note: <u>Click here for the link to the agenda and to the video recording of this meeting</u>; the links provided were correct at the time of publication of this minutes document]

43. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Bruce Baker.

44. NAMED SUBSTITUTES

There were no named substitutes.

45. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of interest were made.

46. MINUTES

It was noted that the minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2024 would be submitted to the next scheduled meeting for approval.

47. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

A document containing a question received from a member of the public and the response given, plus a supplementary question and the response given, is attached at Appendix 1 to the minutes.

The board briefly discussed the need for reports to be made available within the required timescale before each scrutiny meeting in public, in accordance with the council's Constitution [paragraph 4.2.8, Access to agenda and reports before the meeting], to ensure that councillors had all the information needed to inform their discussions. The Chief Executive said that the circumstances surrounding the late publication of papers would be followed up with officers.

48. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

No questions had been received from councillors.

49. 2024/25 CAPITAL INVESTMENT BUDGET AND 2024/25 DRAFT BUDGET - REVENUE

It was noted that consideration of the '2024/25 Capital Investment Budget' item and the 'Corporate Services Directorate Delivery Plan 2024/25' element of the '2024/25 Draft Budget – Revenue' had been deferred at the board meeting held on 10 January 2024.

Further documents published for the current meeting included: the 'Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2027/28; 'Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25'; and 'Earmarked Reserves and General Fund Balance forecasts to 31 March 2024'.

The principal points of the discussion are summarised below.

2024/25 Capital Investment Budget

The documents for this item were published within the agenda for 10 January 2024 and are also available through this link: 2024/25 Capital Investment Budget

The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services responded to questions from board members, the key points included:

- Schools Accessibility Works [10 January 2024 agenda, page 97]: It was confirmed that access needs were identified each year which could result in capital costs for accessibility works.
- ii. Children's Residential Homes for 11 to 18 year olds [10 January 2024 agenda, page 99]: The board was advised that the identified revenue budget implications had been included in the revenue budget proposals 2024/25.
- iii. Property Improvements in Care Homes [10 January 2024 agenda, page 107]: The need to raise awareness about council assets was acknowledged.

The Chairperson:- drew attention to the information available on the council's website [link to the council land and property assets webpage]; suggested that future business cases should make it clear where investments were being made in council-owned property, to meet repairing lease responsibilities, or to meet other legal obligations; and, referring to best practice identified to board members during Treasury Management Training provided by Link Group, requested assurance that appropriate levels of detail (such as legal power, evidence of robust option appraisal work, sensitivity analysis outcomes, impact on resources, skill-sets of external consultants, and any material risks) were made available for each line of the capital programme, and for the proposed additions, before spending was sanctioned on any individual project.

The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services accepted that additional

information could have been included in this Outline Business Case and said that full details would be included in the Full Business Case.

In response to a comment from a board member that the absence of a County Plan beyond 2024 made it difficult to understand the need for certain expenditure, the Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services advised that the County Plan 2024-2028 was in development and the Delivery Plan would include financial lines.

iv. Prudential borrowing [10 January 2024 agenda, page 90, paragraph 17]: Clarifications were provided about how capital schemes would be financed from prudential borrowing through to 2027/28. It was reported that this approach was factored into the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

A board member expressed concern that this could limit the capacity to borrow in future years.

The Chairperson re-iterated that the lack of a County Plan for the next period fettered the ability of the board to see the full context of the proposals. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services, referencing the discussion at the board meeting on 21 November 2023 [minute 30 of 2023/24 refers], said that the County Plan would be delivered as quickly as possible. The Chairperson noted that the board had recognised the need for meaningful consultation and had expected the plan to be considered by Council in March 2024, but the administration had indicated subsequently that the plan would not be presented until the Annual Meeting of Council in May 2024.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2027/28 (MTFS)

This document was published in Supplement 1 to the agenda for 16 January 2024 and it is also available through this link: Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2027/28

The key points of the discussion included:

- 1. In response to a question, the Chief Executive provided an overview of the involvement of the Corporate Leadership Team in constructing the MTFS, guided by the Director of Finance and Resources and informed by key assumptions, with a focus on balancing the budget for 2024/25.
- 2. A board member expressed concern about the level of revenue budget savings that had to be made by the Economy and Environment Directorate, particularly as this could have an impact on services accessed by most residents. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services said that the executive recognised this concern but emphasised the range of services which were required to be undertaken under statutory duties by the Children and Young People Directorate and by the Community Wellbeing Directorate.

The Chief Executive commented on external funding that had been secured, investments through the capital programme, and additional resource and capacity to support growth in the economy.

The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services said that Cabinet and the Corporate Leadership Team had worked together to set a balanced budget and the council was in a better position than in many other local authorities.

The Leader of the Council drew attention to: capital investment in road resurfacing; and additional investment in the Children and Young People Directorate, aligned to support the delivery of the Improvement Plan for Children and Families.

3. The Chairperson made reference to: the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2023/24 – 2026/27, approved by Council on 10 February 2023 [link to the MTFS 2023/24 - 2026/27], which identified 'Whilst a balanced budget is proposed for 2023/24, there is a total funding gap of almost £16m over the period from 2024/25 to 2026/27 and this must be addressed through future reductions in spending, savings or transformation of services.'; Council Tax premiums on second homes and empty properties which had been approved by Council in principle [minute 53 of 2022/23 refers]; and Annex B of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28 which showed funding from 'Council tax (second homes premium)' of £6.431m in 2025/26 and £6.560m in 2026/27, and a surplus of £1.879m in 2025/26 and a gap to be funded of £1.916m in 2026/27.

In response to questions, the Director of Resources and Assurance advised that: the draft settlement received in December 2023 was for one year only and the funding projections for future years were estimates based on information received from civil servants; and it was reported that the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023, including discretionary options for the application of Council Tax premiums, received Royal Assent in October 2023 and a further report would be considered by Council to confirm the council's policy [link to the meeting page for 9 February 2024].

In response to further questions, the Director of Resources and Assurance commented on dialogue with other councils, that guidance was awaited on the definition of second homes, and on the work being undertaken to identify such properties.

4. In response to questions from the Vice-Chairperson about differences between the key financial risks and mitigating actions table in paragraph 61 [agenda for 10 January 2024, page 18] and Table 4 (Key financial risks) of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28 [supplement 1 for 16 January 2024, page 8], the Head of Strategic Finance said that: the mitigating action for the key financial risk 'Not delivering required improvements' had been updated following the discussion at previous board meeting; and 'Dedicated Schools Grant' was referenced in the MTFS only, as it expanded on risks which were relevant over the medium term.

The Chairperson acknowledged that officers were working hard to provide the most up-to-date picture but noted that it would be helpful if changes or differences could be highlighted in key documents.

- 5. Referring to Table 2 (Key assumptions by budget area) of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28 [supplement 1 for 16 January 2024, page 6], the Chairperson questioned why 'Contract inflation' assumptions appeared to mirror the consumer prices index (CPI), rather than the averaging of inflationary assumptions for the different directorates as reflected in the previous MTFS. In response, the Director of Resources and Assurance said that the planning assumptions were considered robust, informed by expert advice and sensitivity analysis.
- 6. The Chairperson highlighted that responses were awaited to a number of recommendations made to the executive in relation to income and charging, as identified at the board meetings on 7 November 2023 [minute 18 of 2023/24 refers] and on 21 November 2024 [minute 31 of 2023/24 refers], and requested that these be provided for Cabinet and Council. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services acknowledged this request.
- 7. In response to a question from a board member about the monitoring and reporting of savings delivery, the Chief Executive advised that: the Corporate Leadership

Team received monthly reports; review meetings were held weekly with the Chief Executive, the Director of Resources and Assurance, and the relevant corporate director; and there had been regular 'star chambers', involving the relevant cabinet member, during recent months to consider in-year positions and the proposals for 2024/25.

Referring to Annex B of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28, a board member questioned whether the 'Savings, efficiencies & mitigations' of £20.035m in 2023/24 and £24.941m in 2024/25 would be achieved. The Chief Executive commented that: the external auditor had issued an unqualified audit opinion for 2022/23; and, except for Children's Services during 2023/24, there was commitment by the corporate directors to deliver the level of savings required.

8. The Chairperson expressed concern that savings had not been delivered in respect of children's services, despite the assurances provided by officers during 2023/24 budget setting, and questioned whether the 'Children's Three Year Plan' proposed savings of £2.503m in 2024/25 would be deliverable. In response, the Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services commented that the increased demand on services was not unique to this council and children's services was being given the highest priority by the administration.

The Leader of the Council reminded the board of the contributions made by the Corporate Director Children and Young People at the previous board meeting, including steps being taken in terms of improvement that were leading to savings.

The Cabinet Member Children and Young People commented on: the Report of the Children's Services Commissioner in Herefordshire on progress and next steps, due to be considered by the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee [link to the meeting page for 23 January 2024]; ongoing work on the delivery of improved outcomes for children, including demand reduction in a number of areas; the challenges associated with the higher rate of looked after children in Herefordshire compared to the national rate or those of 'statistical neighbour' local authorities; and other challenges in relation to recruitment and retention, and SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) transport services.

The Chairperson emphasised the need to demonstrate a track record of starting to deliver savings in this portfolio area before the end of the financial year 2023/24 to provide assurance to Cabinet and Council around the robustness of budget estimates for 2024/25. The Cabinet Member Children and Young People considered that the right metrics were in place and would discuss this with Corporate Director.

The Chief Executive said that: conversions from agency to permanent posts were starting to be made; it was hoped that trajectories would be shown in Q3 of 2023/24 but this was predicated on appointments having been made before the end of the reporting period; and evidence had been provided to the Children and Young People Directorate Budget Task and Finish Group which supported the integrity of the Three Year Plan and the commitment to deliver savings.

In response to a question about confidence in the collection and accuracy of the data in terms of staffing levels, the Chief Executive noted the potential for this matter to form the basis of a recommendation in the Task and Finish Group report.

9. A committee member commented on the need for clear language within council documents and, as an example, requested that the wording be clarified for the key assumptions against 'Council tax' in Table 2 of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28.

Corporate Services Directorate Delivery Plan 2024/25

This document was published within the agenda for 10 January 2024 and is also available through this link: Corporate Services slide pack

The key points of the discussion included:

- i). The treatment of legal services activity within the budget for Corporate Services was explored, including in relation to children's services and the Programme Management Office. The Chairperson said that, depending on where and when the costs fell, this could obscure the full costs associated with service delivery in the directorate areas.
 - The Cabinet Member Finance and Resources outlined the intention to embed project managers within individual service areas.
- ii). With reference made to 'Corporate Services 2024-2025 Pressures', 'P3 Cross Directorate Virements' [10 January 2024 agenda, page 79], the Head of Strategic Finance advised that this showed movement associated with the transfer of services. The Director of Resources and Assurance said that a breakdown could be provided.
- iii). In response to a comment about the identified £1.2m overspend in relation to the Programme Management Office [10 January 2024 agenda, page 77], the Director of Resources and Assurance said that this reflected the situation as at Q2, there had been some improvement, elements had been recharged to relevant projects, and further explanation would be provided in the Q3 report to Cabinet.
- iv). With reference made to the identified £1.0m overspend in relation to the Transformation Programme, assurance was sought that the proposed saving of £2.6m associated with 'S2 Transformation: Thrive Programme Savings' [10 January 2024 agenda, page 84] could be achieved.
 - In response to questions: the Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services advised that the programme sought to structure the organisation to deliver more innovative, effective and efficient services over the next three to four years, and this involved upfront costs; the Director of Strategy and Performance outlined the invest to save approach; and the Chief Executive acknowledged that savings had not come through as quickly or in the format as originally planned, and that consideration may need to be given to a more appropriate way to present the investment made and when savings would be delivered.
- v). Questions were asked about the proposed saving of £2.142m associated with 'S6 Reduction in Hoople SLA contract value and workforce service reviews' [10 January 2024 agenda, page 31]. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services, noting that the council was the major shareholder, said that Hoople would provide the same services for less money, albeit some services may be delivered slightly differently. The Director of Resources and Assurance highlighted that the proposed saving was based on reduce (£610k) and transform (£1.532m), and commented on the potential of online self-service by customers and automated systems to transform a range of activities.
- vi). Questions were asked about the proposed saving of £4.5m associated with 'S1 Mutual Early Resignation Scheme 2024 (MERS24)' [10 January 2024 agenda, page 32]. The responses included:
 - The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services commented on the

- linkage to transformation and confirmed that applications for MERS would not be accepted for critical posts.
- The Chief Executive outlined the consultation undertaken with the trade unions, said that expressions of interest and applications had been received, outlined the next steps, and confirmed that successful applications would result in staff finishing employment before 31 March 2024.
- The Chief Executive said that the window for applications under MERS24 would need to close before the full position became clear.
- The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services emphasised that this was a voluntary resignation scheme, not redundancies.
- The Director of Resources and Assurance advised that Hoople were not planning any redundancies; the council's Workforce and Organisation Development Strategy would help to manage change and wellbeing support was available to staff; and it was acknowledged that the council would be smaller as a result, reflecting the reality of the financial situation for all councils.
- vii). There was further discussion about Annex B of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28 and the implications of reducing the size of the council given the identified 'Growth Demand & Pressures'. The Director of Resources and Assurance commented on the set of assumptions for future years and drew attention to sensitivity analysis outlined in paragraph 5.2 [supplement 1 for 16 January 2024, page 7]. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services re-iterated that critical posts were not eligible to apply for MERS, including certain posts in social care and planning, and that the transformation programmes would help the council to manage potential growth in demand.

The Chairperson drew attention to the 'Growth – Demand & Pressures' of £32.018m in 2023/24, £35.278m in 2024/25, and £15.475m in 2025/26. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services said that best practice from across government was being used to inform the projections.

- viii). In response to a question about the provision made by the previous administration to support the hardest hit households, the Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services confirmed that there was no planned change. The Chairperson suggested that the level of funding should be made overt to provide confidence to Council.
- ix). In response to a question, the Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services confirmed that the proposed saving of £4.5m associated MERS was a gross figure and there were no proposals to increase staff.

Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25

This document was published within the agenda for 16 January 2024 and is also available through this link: Treasury_Management_Strategy_2024/25

The key points of the discussion included:

1). The Chairperson drew attention to: the Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) 2023/24 – 2026/27, approved by Council on 10 February 2023 [link to the TMS 2023/24 - 2026/27], which identified indicative 2023/24 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge of £11.151m for 2023/24 and estimated council borrowing as at 31 March 2024 of £165.2m; and the TMS 2024/25 [agenda for 16 January 2024, page 23, paragraph 3.9] which stated 'The council borrowing is forecast to

be £119.4 million at 31 March 2024. This is expected to increase to £162.4 million by 31 March 2025. The estimated movement of £43.0 million in 2024/25 is represented by additional prudential borrowing to fund capital spend of £52.3 million less £9.3 million Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) charge.'

The Director of Resources and Finance provided clarifications about the methodology for MRP, noted that capital expenditure had been lower partly due to slippage, and said that a breakdown could be provided.

2). Referring to Table 5 (Estimates of capital expenditure and funding) in Annex C of the TMS 2024/25 [agenda for 16 January 2024, page 27], a committee member expressed concerns about: the increase in capital expenditure from the forecast of £68.873m in 2023/24 to the estimate of £156.373m in 2024/25; and the increase in prudential borrowing from the forecast of £17.860 in 2023/24 to the estimate of £52.320m in 2024/25. With attention also drawn to Table 10 (Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream) [page 30], concerns were also expressed about risks associated with the increase in total financing costs from the forecast of £13.191m in 2023/24 to the estimates of £15.151m in 2024/25, £17.903m in 2025/26, and £19.408m in 2026/27.

The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services commented that the level of borrowing was significantly lower than in many other unitary authorities and there were indications of a downward trend in interest rates. The Director of Resources and Finance confirmed that existing loans were at fixed interest rates, and this was recommended for future borrowings.

Earmarked Reserves and General Fund Balance 01 April 2022 to 31 March 2024

This document was published within supplement 1 for 16 January 2024 and is also available through this link: Earmarked Reserves and General Fund Balance

The key points of the discussion included:

- The Chairperson commented on the need for an indication about how the '2023/24 Q2 forecast outturn before management actions' of £13.8m, principally in relation to the Children and Young People Directorate (£11.8m), was proposed to be funded using the council's reserves. The Cabinet Member Finance and Corporate Services said that the position would be looked at in Q4, as part of routine financial management. The Chairperson considered that a forecast should be provided as part of the evidence supporting the budget.
- Clarity was sought about 'Unused grants carried forward' and whether any were time sensitive. The Director of Resources and Assurance said that a breakdown could be provided; it was reported that further capital grant of £1.8m had been announced during the previous week.
- In response to a question, the Director of Resources and Assurance provided an overview of representations made in respect of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement and said that adjustments would be reported to Cabinet [link to the meeting page for 25 January 2024].
- In response to a question, the Director of Resources and Assurance reported that the council was following the statutory guidance on the treatment of high needs deficits in relation to Dedicated Schools Grant and, as this was an issue for most councils in England and Wales, a solution was awaited from the government.

Potential actions and recommendations

At the conclusion of the debate, the Statutory Scrutiny Officer displayed potential actions and recommendations, as identified by board members during the 10 January 2024 meeting, and the board discussed amendments and additions to the list.

- a) Reinstatement of the publication of the 'Public Local Account' for adult social care to inform the public as to the way that adult social care funding was spent annually by the council.
- b) There should be greater promotion to aid public understanding of funding arrangements for adult social care.
- c) Assurance be provided as to the approach to develop the relationship with self-funders in the county, with more systematic review of self-funders coming to a point where they could no longer support their own care packages and were likely to fall into the council's responsibility. [Information to be provided to the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee]
- d) Consideration be given to the Children and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee and the Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee working together to look at early help provision, Talk Community and prevention.
- e) The funding for all-age commissioning, rather than being wound into the budget for adult social care, be retained as a discrete line in the budget.
- f) There is clarity in terms of the ring-fenced element of council tax for adult social care, as reflected in Annex B to the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28.
- g) Greater clarity be provided on SEND transport, including how the pipeline was understood and managed. [Information to be provided to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee]
- Evidence be provided justifying income targets within the planning service, and mapping of income to support services and how they manage that in-year. [The final wording is shown in the resolution below]
- More detail be provided on the proposed savings with the Balfour Beatty Living Places contract, including clarity about how the £450k savings would be set out against the services in the Annual Plan. [The final wording is shown in the resolution below]
- h) The Environment and Economy Directorate S8 saving (Transfer of functions from the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)) should be presented as income rather than as a saving.
- i) The presentation of all the directorate savings be sense checked to ensure that they reflect how the savings were going to be delivered against the financial quarters.

Arising from a point made during the current meeting, the Chairperson noted the request that:

j) Confirmation be provided that the best practice points, identified in the training provided by Link Group, were being followed for all business cases.

There was a short adjournment to enable the board to consider other potential actions and recommendations arising from the discussion at this meeting.

In addition to discussing draft recommendations, the following points were re-iterated:

- k) The need for officers to be reminded that reports had to be made available within the required timescale before each scrutiny meeting in public.
- The need for the wording be clarified for the key assumptions against 'Council tax' in Table 2 of the MTFS 2024/25 to 2027/28.

The meeting recommenced, the draft recommendations were read out by the Statutory Scrutiny Committee, and the following resolution was agreed by the board.

Resolved: That it be recommended to the executive that:

- 1. Income and charging detail is provided for services in each directorate;
- 2. Investment in and level of targeted support is made clear in the budget;
- 3. Evidence is provided justifying income targets within the planning service;
- 4. There is ongoing monitoring of performance in areas where MERS savings were taken for the 2024-25 financial year;
- 5. Council to be provided with more detail on the proposed savings with regard to the Balfour Beatty Living Places contract;
- 6. For the administration to provide a forecast of where they are minded to adjust earmarked and general reserve lines to deliver the required £13.8 million to cover the overspend forecast at quarter 2 in children's services; and
- 7. To provide further evidence to give confidence that the savings of £2.5 million in Children and Young People directorate are deliverable, from Q3 and Q4 2023-24.

50. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE DIRECTORATE BUDGET TASK AND FINISH GROUP

This agenda item was referred to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee [link to the meeting page for 23 January 2024].

51. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING

The date of the next scheduled meeting was confirmed as Tuesday 19 March 2024, 2.00 pm.

The meeting ended at 5.55 pm

Chairperson

Item 5, Questions from members of the public

Questioner:	Ms Reid, Hereford
-------------	-------------------

Question:

I note that at 9.20am on 11 January 2024 the following documents are not available on the webpage of the 16 January 2024 Scrutiny Management Board meeting:

- Children and Young People Directorate Budget Task and Finish Group report
- Medium Term Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2027/28 report
- Earmarked Reserves and General Fund Balance forecasts to 31 March 2024 report

I understand that reports should be available one week before the relevant meeting.

I intended to ask a public question in respect of the Children and Young People Directorate Budget Task and Finish Group report. However, the deadline for public questions is 9.30am on 11 January 2024.

How will the Scrutiny Management Board ensure that in the future reports etc are available on time before meetings?

Response:

The Local Government Act requires Herefordshire Council to give five clear working days' notice of a meeting of a constituted committee such as Scrutiny Management Board. It also requires Herefordshire to ensure than any reports to be considered at a committee meeting to be made available to the public at the same time as committee members.

Scrutiny Management Board ensures that it receives reports in time for meetings through regular planning sessions between the chair and supporting officers. This process is mostly successful in ensuring timely publication of reports.

The timetable for scrutiny of the budget setting process is impacted by release of financial settlement information to councils by central government. This compresses the time frame for the production of documentation to a greater extent than is usual for committees. In such situations, Herefordshire Council instead publishes reports at the earliest possible opportunity before the meeting.

The consequence of this is that it has not been possible to publish all supporting reports five clear days before the budget scrutiny meeting. This impacts on committee time to prepare and also upon the ability of the public to submit questions to scrutiny. This is unfortunate.

The final version of the budget documentation pack will go to cabinet and to full council and will be available at both meetings for the public and councillors to submit written questions.

In March Scrutiny Management Board will be reviewing learning from this year's process as part of developing a full year cycle of budget scrutiny work and will seek to reduce the impact that external factors have upon the role of scrutiny and upon the public's ability to engage with the democratic and governance process.

Supplementary question:

Firstly, occasionally in the past information requests from the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee have not been timely dealt with.

In my public question, I pointed out the report entitled Children and Young People Directorate Budget Task and Finish Group was not on this meeting's webpage on 11 January 2024. At 1pm today, it is still not on the meeting's webpage.

I notice the matter is also on the agenda of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on Tuesday 23 January 2024 but the report is not on that meeting's website as at 1pm today. Therefore, I understand that the report is late for that meeting.

In what ways, will the Scrutiny Management Board ensure that in the future reports etc are available on time before its own meetings and other council meetings?

Response to supplementary question:

Thank you for your question. Yes, it is unfortunate that some of the meeting papers for today's meeting were delivered late. Unfortunately, it is a function of putting the budget together this time of year, and over the Christmas and New Year period, there is a lot of work to get through and it does make it a struggle to provide the information in a timely fashion to be published as part of the agenda.

You're right, we were planning on having the Children and Young People Directorate Budget Task and Finish Group report coming to this meeting but, similarly, we've faced difficulties getting the report completed and approved, which is why it's been placed on the agenda for the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee next week to take it directly rather than it coming back through Scrutiny Management Board.

The hope and expectation is that we will have the report published before the weekend, so that committee members and the public have the weekend and Monday to look at it but, unfortunately, it is likely therefore also to be outside of the timeframe for receipt of public questions. I don't know whether there's any scope to do anything about that. It would be unfortunate if it was going to miss the public opportunity to submit questions on the back of it twice but I will look into that and, if there is any way of being able to accommodate public questions on this, we'll make it clear one way or the other when the report is published but thank you for your question.

It is the intention of this committee to look at the whole cycle of budget scrutiny at our March meeting for the coming year and to make recommendations, in terms of how we can try and reduce the time pressures that are created during the budgeting process, in order to both improve public engagement but also reduce the pressures on officers and members in terms of being able to undertake thoughtful development of the budget and an appropriate level of scrutiny. Any public comment and suggestions associated with that would be welcome ahead of our meeting.

I just apologise that we haven't got the report to this meeting and that it's going to be late to Children's also.